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WCODALL, Justice.

In case no. 1091798, John Coleman McGee ("Jack") appeals
from a summary judgment and a Jjudgment as a matter of law 1in
favor of his brother, Willis Banks McGee ("Willdis™),
individually and as executor of the estate of Elizabeth Banks
McGee, their mother ("Mrs. McGee™), 1in an action commenced by
Jack to contest Mrs. McGee's will. In case no. 1100247,
Willis appeals the +trial court's denial of his request,
pursuant to Ala. Code 1975, & 43-8-196, for the payment of
litigation costs and attorney fees in the will contest. We
have consolidated the appeals for the purpose c¢f writing one
opinion. In case no. 1091788, we affirm in part, reverse in
part, and remand. In case nc. 1100247, we reverse and remand.

I. Factual and Procedural Background

On June 7, 1992, Mrs. McGee executed a will, which was
drafted by Crawford Williams, her attorney of approximately 30
years. The document provided, in substantive and relevant
part:

"T, BELIZABETH BANKS McGEE, ... being of sound
mind and disposing memory, do hereby make and

publish this, my Last Will and Testament, herebhy
revoking any and all former Wills made by me.
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"ITEM TWO

"I give, will, devise and begueath unto my
beloved son, [Willis], my home, together with the
real estate upon which 1t 1is situated and all
household furniture, furnishings and appliances
to bhe his absolutely.

"ITEM THREE

"I give, will, devise and bequeath the gsum of
$25,000.00 cash to each grandchild of mine who
survives me (and who might be born within nine (9)
months of my death) tc be received by and Lo be held
by their parent(s) for such grandchild's needs as
said parent(s), 1in their own discretion, might
determine appropriate .... In the event that my son,
[Jack], 1is divorced from my daughter-in-law, CAROL
S. McGEE, then T designate my deughter-in-law, CAROL
S. McGEE, as tLhe 'parent' to receive and hold such
sum as bequeathed to my grandchild, KRISTIN McGER,
for all purposes under this Item of my Will,

"ITEM FOUR

"I give, will, devise and begueath unto my
beloved son, [Jack], the sum of ONE HUNDRED THCOUSAND
DOLLARS (5100,000.00) cash to be his absolutely, 1if
he survives me.

"TTEM FIVE

"I give, will, devise and bequeath all the rest,
residue and remainder of my property, real, personal
and/or mixed, wherever situated, which I may own or
to which I may be entitled at the time of my death,
or to which my estate may become entitled after my
death, o©or over which I may have any power of
dispeosition, unto my beloved scon, [Willis], to be
his absolutely.
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"ITEM SEVEN
"I hereby constitute and appoint as Executor of
this, my Last will and Testament, my son,

[Willis]...."

(Capitalization in original.)

Mrs. McGee executed the will in her home. Present at the
signing of the will were Williams and Jim Wagstaff, both of
whom signed the document as witnesses, Willis had plaved no
role in the discussions between Williams and Mrs. McGee during
the drafting stage of the will, and he wag not present when
the will was signed. However, sometime kefore Mrs. McGee's
death, Willis allegedly placed the will in Mrs. McGee's bank

safe-deposit box.

Mrs. McGee died on January 18, 2005, and Willis

subseguently offered the will for probate. Letters
testamentary were issued to Willis in February 2005. 0On June
15, 2005, Jack filed a "complaint for contest of will." As

last amended, the complaint alleged (1) that the will was
"invalid because it was not executed as required by law"; (2)
that Mrs. McGee "lacked sufficient testamentary capacity"; (3)
that the will was the product of undue influence; and (4) that

the submission ¢f the will for probate perpetrated a fraud on
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the court. In the complaint Jack also scught the impositicon

of a constructive trust over the property of the estate.
Additionally, the complaint contained a conversion claim,

set forth, in pertinent part, as follows:

"17. Willis McGee has also wrongfully taken
and/or withheld a number of items from Mrs. McGee's
residence which belong to Jack McGee.

"18. The items belonging to Jack McGee, but
currently retained, controlled, destroyed, scld or

otherwise disposed of by Willis McGee include, but
[are] not limited to, the following:

"a. a 16 gauge shotgun;

"k, an automatic 22 caliber pistol;
"¢. An over/under shotgun;

"d. a 22 caliber rifle;

"e. a 20 gauge shctgun;

"f. a 410 gauge shotgun;

"g. two 3-barrel guns;

"h. his grandfathers’' guns;

"i, & marble top:;

. two antigue bedroom suites:
"k. two wing back antigue chairs;

"1l. & rocking chair; and

m. miscellaneous family items.
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"13. Despite his ownership of tThese items and

Jack's request for their return, Willis McGee has

refused and/or failed to return said items to Jack

McGee . "

The trial court entered a summary Jjudgment in favor of
Willis on all counts of the complaint except Lthe undue-
influence count, which was tried to a jury. However, at the
close of Jack's case, the trial court entered a judgment as a
matter of law ("JML"} 1in favor of Willls on that count, "with
leave for [Willis] to prove reasonable costs and fees pursuant
to & 43-8-196, Code of Alakbama (1975)." Jack's motion to
alter, amend, cr vacate that judgment was denied by coperaticn
of law, and he appealed (case no. 1091798}, Meanwhile, Willis
filed a "submission to prove costs and fees." The trial
court, however, denied Willis's request for payment of costs
and fees, and Willis also appealed (case no. 1100247).

Cn appeal, Jack contends that the trial court erred in
entering both the summary Jjudgment and the JML, while Willis
contends that the trial court erred in denvyving his reguest for
the payment of costs and fees. Because the merits of Willis's

appeal turn, in large part, on the merits of Jack's appeal, we

first address the issues presented in case no. 1091798,
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I1. Discussion -- Case No. 1091798

On appeal, Jack challenges the summary disposition by JML
of his undue-influence claim. He also challenges Lhe summary
judgment on his fraud and conversion c¢laims. He does not
challenge the summary disposition of the following two claims
eliminated by summary Judgment: (1} the alleged invalid
execution of the will and (2) Mrs., McGee's alleged lack of
testamentary capacity. In any event, "[t]he de novec 'standard
by which we review a ruling on a motion for a JML 1is
""materially indistinguishable from the standard by which we

review a summary judgment.'"™'" Glass v. Birmingham Scuthern

R.R., 8982 S5So. 2d 504, 506 (Ala. 2007) (guoting Bailevyv wv.

Faulkner, %40 So. 2d 247, 249 (Ala. 2006), guoting in turn

Flint Constr. Co. wv. Hall, 904 So. 2d 236, 24¢ (Ala. 2004})).

"We must decide whether there was substantial evidence, when
viewed 1in the 1light most faveorakle tco the plaintifi, tc

warrant a jury determination." Alakbama Power Co. v. Aldridge,

854 S5o0. 2d %54, bHel0 (Ala. 2002). We first address Jack's
contention that the trial court erred in entering the JML cn

his undue-influence claim.
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A. JML -- Undue Influence

Jack concedes, as he must, that in order "[t]o submit his
claim to a Jury"™ he had the burden of producing substantial
evidence of each element of undue influence. Jack's brief, at
24-25. Thcse elements are:

A that a confidential relationship existed
between a favored beneficiary and the testator; (2)
that the influence of or for the beneficiary was
dominant and controlling in that relationship; and
{3) that there was undue activity on the part of the
dominant party in procuring the execution of the
will. ™"

Furrow v. Helton, 13 So. 3d 350, 353-54 (Ala. 2008) (emphasis

added) (gquoting Clifton v. Clifton, 529 So. Z2d %80, 983 (Ala.

1988)). This Court has often defined a "favored beneficiary"”

as

"'[o]lne who, in the circumstances of the particular
case, has been favored over others having egual
claim to the testator's bounty. An  unnatural
discrimination, leading to a natural inference that
advantage has been taken by cone in position so to
do; and shown to have been busy in getting such will
executed.'"

Pirtle v. Tucker, 960 So. 2d 620, 629 (Ala. 2006) I(gucting

Cook v, Morton, 241 Ala. 188, 192, 1 So. 2d 890, 892 (19%41)).

Assuming, arguendo, that the proponent of a will 1is a
favored hkeneficiary, it still must be shown Lhat there was

"active interference in procuring the execution of the will."

8
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Clifton v, Clifton, 52% So. 2d at 984, "This activity must be

in procuring the execution of the will and more than activity

and interest referable Lo a compliance with or obedience to
the voluntary and untrammeled directions of the testat[rix]."

Johnson v. Howard, 279 Ala. 16, 21, 181 So. 2d 8bh, 80 (1565)

{emphasis added]) .
"'Undue activity in the procurement or execution of a
will may ... be proved by circumstantial evidence.'" Pirtle,

960 S¢. 2d at 631 (quoting Allen v. Sconvers, 669% Sc. 2d 113,

117 (Ala. 19%5)). However, "[a] court does 'not 1look at
individual facts or evidence in isclation 1in determining
whether tLhe evidence supports [this] element of undue
influence.'" 960 So. 2d at 632. "Evidence proving that there
was undue activity [on the part of the named beneficiary] in
procuring the execution of the will 1s cg¢zrucial to the
determination of the existence of undue influence." Wall v.
Hodges, 465 So. 2d 359, 363 (Ala. 1984) (emphasis added).

Circumstances evidencing undue activity in the
procurement or execution of a will are those where a
beneficiary

"'"was active 1n and about the execution and

preparation of gsaid will such as the initiation of

the proceedings for the preparation of the will, or

9
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participation 1in such preparation, emploving the
draftsman, selecting the wltnesses, excluding
persons from the testatrix at or about the time of
the execution of the will, c¢oncealing the making of
the will after 1t was made, and the like ...."""

Reed v. Shipp, 293 Ala., 632, 636, 308 So. 2d 705, 708 (1875)

{quoting appellants' brief, guoting in turn Lewis v. Martin,

210 Ala. 401, 413, 98 So. 635, 647 (1923)). There was
insufficient relevant evidence of such activity in this case.

The only evidence produced was that Mrs. McGee contacted
Williams, her long-time attorney and friend, 1in 1992 <tc
request a change in an existing will. The one substantive
change she reguested increased the amount Jack was to receive
from 525,000 to $100,000. Williams made the changes Mrs.
McGee requested on a draft copy of the former will and sent it
to her for her approval. That marked up draft is in the
record.

It is undisputed that Willis did not precipitate,
participate in, or attend any of the conversations between
Mrs. McGee and Williams. Neither was Willis present during
the actual execution of the will, as we have already stated.
He had nothing to do with selecting the witnesses to the will.
Indeed, there was no evidence indicating that Willis had any
foreknowledge of the will-making process. Moreover, LThere was

10
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no evidence indicating that Willis subseguently concealed the
will or the fact of its making. Thus, we need not consider
whether there was evidence of the first two elements cof the
undue-influence c¢laim, kecause Jack has failed to present any

evidence on the "crucial™ third element. See Wall v. Hodges,

465 So. 2d at 263 (even assuming sufficient evidence of the
first two elements, undue-influence claim should not have gone
to the Jjury 1n the absence o¢f evidence that the named
beneficiary "had anything tc do with the procurement of the
will or the [subsequent] re-execution of 1t"}.
Jack points out that the will was found in an unsealed
envelope in Mrs. McGee's safe-deposit box, Lo which Willis had

access, These facts do not aid Jack. Evidence indicating

that the testatrix had a post-execution discussion with a

named beneficiary and gave him the will with Instructions to
"ecut it away for safekeeping” does not constitute evidence of

undue activity in the execution of the will. Emith v. Smith,

482 So. 2d 11e6l, 1164 (Ala. 1985} (reversing a Jjudgment
entered on a jury verdict for the contestant and holding that
there was not "sufficient evidence of undue influence to allow
the court Lo ... submit the case tc the jury"). Because

Willis's only involvement was in the post-execution process of

11
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allegedly placing the will in Mrs. McGee's safe-deposit box,
the trial court did not err in entering a JML in favor of
Willis and that JML is affirmed.

B. Summary Judgment

Jack next challenges the summary judgment on his fraud
and conversion claims.
1. Fraud

In this Court, Jack explains his fraud theory as follows:

"There are ... reasons why a jury could decide
Willis offered to probate a will of dubious
authenticity. First, there is evidence that Mrs.
McGee said she would leave her estate Lo Jack and
Willis in equal portions.

"Second, there is evidence that Mrs. McGee and
those c¢close to her stated that she changed her
testamentary intentions. In 1996, Mrs. McGee told
her best friend that she had just done her will. At
approximately the gsame time, Willis admitted to his
then mother-in-law that Mrs. McGee wished to treat
both Jack and Willis fairly 1in her will, and that
any contrary intention 'was no longer the case.'
Willis alsc expressed 1immediate regret that he
shared that information.

"... Indeed, the evidence presented showed that
Willis knew the 1992 will was not the true last will
and testament of Mrs. McGee; he admitted as much to
his then-mother-in-law. Willis nevertheless coffered
the 1992 will to the probate court. As such, this
was a fraud on the probate court, which injured Jack
directly."

12
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Jack's brief, at 35-37 (footnote and citations to the record
omitted)}.

As we understand this theory, 1t 1s that, after Mrs.
McoGee executed her 1992 will, she changed her mind abkout the

disposition of her estate and executed yvet another will, which

Willis allegedly suppressed or destroved. Jack contends that

his theory presents a cognizabkle cause of action under Ala.
Code 1975, § 43-8-5, which provides:

"Whenever fraud has been perpetrated in
connection with any proceeding or in any statement
filed under this chapter or if fraud is used to
avold or circumvent the provisions or purposes of
this chapter, any perscon injured thereby may obtain
appropriate relief against the perpetrator of the
fraud or restitution from any person (other than a
bona fide purchaser} benefitting from the fraud,
whether 1innocent or not. Any proceeding must be
commenced within one year after the discovery of the
fraud or from the time when the fraud should have
been discovered, but no proceseding may be brought
agalinst one not a perpetrator of the fraud later
than five vyears after the time of the commissicn of
the fraud. This section has no bearing on remedies
relating to fraud practiced on a decedent during his
lifetime which affects the succession of his
estate.”

Jack ingsists that he "presented substantial evidence that
Willis violated" this section by suppressing or destroying a
will executed by Mrs. McGee after the 1992 will, Jack's

brief, at 34. We disagree.

13
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Court and the Court of Civil Appeals have

interpreted & 43-8-5 as a tolling wrovision, not as Jack

proposes,

as an 1independent scurce of fraud law. In that

connection, we recently said:

"In Christian [v. Murray, 915 So. 2d 23 (Ala.

2005%)], this Court indicated its agreement with a
prior decision of the Court of Civil Appeals,
holding:

"'"[Alppropriate relief for one injured by
the fraud contemplated by Ala. Code 1375,
& 43-8-5, would inc¢lude the tolling of the
time within which to file a will contest
when "the facts upon which a contest could
be based were misrepresented and concealed
by the fraudulent acts of the proponents”
of the will.'

"Christian, 9215 So. 2d at 27 (guoting Holway wv.
Wanschek, 690 So. 2d 429, 433 (Ala. Civ. App.

19597

[ In deciding whether conduct amounts to

fraud sufficient to toll the sgsix-month limitations
period for filing a will <contest, this Court
concluded that 'the Legislature 1ntended that the
fraud necessary to toll the time for filing a will
contest must be that kind of fraud that would allow
relief for "fraud on a court."' Christian, %15 So.
2d at 28."

Johngon v. Neal, 39 So. 3d 1040, 1044 (Ala. 2009} (emphasis

added) .

There are no timeliness 1ssues 1nvolved in this case,

and, thus, there is no need for the application of a tolling

provision.

14
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Substantively, the alleged statements of Mrs. MclGee --
echoed by Willis and others -- regarding Mrs. McGee's
dispcocsitional intentions do not constitute evidence of a
miggsing will, In essence, this argument is advanced to show

a revocation of the 1%92 will by a subsegquent will. However,

"'[i]t 1s noted in McBeth wv. McEBeth, [11 Ala. 596 (1847), ]

suonra [Weeks v. McBeth, 14 Ala. 474 (1848)], that testators

frequently make declarations touching their testamentary acts
"for tThe purpose of misleading, and of stifling the

importunity of relatives and friends.”™ ...'" Allan v, Allan,

353 So. 2d 1157, 1158 (Ala. 1977) (guoting Allen v. Scruggs,

190 Ala. 654, 673-74, 67 So. 301, 308 (1914)). In Allan,
Lawrence Allan offered his wife's will to prchate. Prcobhate
was contested by a son of the marriage con the ground that the
will "had been revoked by a subseguent will." 353 Sco. 2d at
1157, The contestant presented evidence indicating that
"his mother had told him several years before her
death that she had executed a new will in which she
left everything to him instead cf to his father.
A neighbor of the Allans alsc testified that, some
yvears bhefore her death, Mrs. Allan told her that she

had made a new will in which she left everything to
her son instead of to her husband."

15
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353 So. 2d at 1157-58. The trial court directed a verdict
against the contestant and this Court affirmed, holding:
"There 1ig no evidence in this case that the proponent of the

will destroved a subsequent will made by the testatrix."
Id. at 1159.

Allan 1s 1nstructive. Indeed, unlike thils case, Allan
invelved evidence indicating that witnesses had actually seen
the allegedly missing will. For example, the contestant in
Allan "testified that he saw an instrument with his mcther's
name c¢n it and the names of two other pecple,” and a neighbor
testified likewise. 353 So. 2d at 11%7-58. However, "[t]lhere
[was] no evidence whatever that the i1instrument which the
witnesses said they saw had been executed in the presence of
two witnesses, nor that such witnesses had executed the same
in the presence of the testatrix."” Id. at 11:58. Thus, the

contest did not warrant a jury's consideration. A fortiori,

the evidence is insufficient in this case, where no one claims
to have ever seen a post-1992 document purporting to be Mrs.

MoGee's will., For these reasons, Jack's fraud c¢laim is

'A directed wverdict has been renamed as a judgment as a
matter of law. See Rule 50, Ala. R. Civ. P.

16
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without merit, and, as to that <¢laim, the trial court's
summary Jjudgment is affirmed.

2. Conversion

Finally, Jack insists that he presented evidence of
conversion sufficient to withstand Willis's summary-Jjudgment
moticon. "The elements of conversion include a wrongful taking
of specific property and an assumption of ownership or
dominion over the separate and identifiable property of
another .... Further, the plaintiff must have a right to
immediate pocssession of such property and the taking must be

in defiance of that right." Young v. Norfolk Southern Rv.,

705 So. 2d 444, 446 (Ala. Civ. App. 1997}). In other words,

"to recover under the count of conversion, plaintiff must show

legal title in himgelf to the property at the time of the

conversion and his immediate right of possession.” State Farm

Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v, Wagncn, 53 Ala. App. 712, 717, 304 So.

2d 216, 219 (1974) (emphasis added).
In his summary-judgment moticn addressed to the
conversion claim, Willis stated, in pertinent part:
"In his Amended Complaint, [Jack] alleges that
numerous 1tems of personal property located in Ms.

McGee's house at the time of her death had been
given to him by Ms. McGee prior to her death.

17
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n

O I

"[Jack's] claims of conversion and detinue are
without merit &as a matter of law, because the
subject matter of those c¢laims remained 1n Ms.
McoGee's possession at the time of her death.
Therefore, no delivery occurred as regquired to
establish a valid gift, and the property at lssue 1s
the property of Ms. McGee's Estate.”

{(Emphasis added.) Willis then c¢cited authority for the
proposition that when allegedly gifted property is found in
the possession of the testator at the time of the testator's
death, 1t 1s regarded as "part of the decedent's estate as a
matter of law."

Jack responded to the motion with his own affidavit, in
which he stated, in pertinent partbt:

"Tn addition, there were several items 1in her house

that she had given me that I was keeping there until

the remodeling on my house was done, including two

chairs, a table and marble top and several pictures.

There were also guns of mine that I had received
from my grandfather in the hcuse when she died.

"l11l. At the time that mother died, I had several
items of personal property that belonged to me that
were located in mother's house. Some ¢f these items
were given to me by mother, some were given Lo me by
others, and some were items that I had purchased
myself, I ftook actual possession of all ¢of these
items before leaving them in mother's house
including the things that mother gave me and the
gunsg I received from my grandfather. After I took
actual possession of these things, I asked mother 1f
I c¢could store them in her house while I wasg
remodeling cur house, which she said I could.

18
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"12. After mother died, 1 tried to go into
mother's house Lo see what was there and retrieve
certain property that was mine. However, when I
tried to get 1in her house, T could not bkecause
Willis had changed all the locks. 1 asked Willis 1f
I could have a key to the house so that I could go
into our mother's house and see what was there and
retrieve what was mine. Willis told me that he
would not allow me to go into the house nor would he
return any ¢f my possessions.”

(Emphasis added.)

According to Jack, he "cffered evidence that there were

three c¢classes of items that Willis converted," namely, (1)
"his own property that he was storing at Mrs. McGee's
residence at the time of her death"; (2} property "that Jack
had heen given by persons other than Mrs. McGee"; and (3)
"items he was given by Mrs. McGee." Jack's brief, at 32-33
{emphasis added). He points out -- correctly, we note -- Lthat

Willis's summary-judgment motion c¢hallenged the c¢onversion
claim only as to the third class of property.

"'"The [summary-judgment] movant has the initial
burden of making a prima facie showing that there is
no genuine issue of material fact; 1if the movant
makes tLhat showing, the burden then shifts Lo the
nonmovant to present substantial evidence o0of each
element of the c¢laim challenged by the movant.'
Harper v. Winston County, 8%2 So. 2d 346, 349% (Ala.

2004) (emphasis added). However, i1if the movant does
not satisfy his initial burden, 'then he 1s not
entitled to judgment. No defense tc an insufficient
showing i1ig required.' Ray v. Midfield Park, Inc.,

19
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293 Ala. 609, 612, 308 So. 2d 886, 688 (1%75)
{emphasis added).”

White Sands Group, L.L.C. wv. PRS II, LLC, 998 So. 2d 1042,

1054-55 (Ala. 2008). Jack argues that the trial court
"inexplicably granted summary Judgment regarding” the twc
classes of items not challenged in the summary-Jjudgment mction
and that it erred in so doing. We agree.

Because Willis challenged the sufficiency of Jack's

conversion c¢laim only as to one of three classes of property,

n

namely, "items he was given by Mrs. McGee, the burden never
shifted toc Jack to defend the challenge as to the other two
c¢lasses of allegedly converted property. The trial court
erred, therefore, in summarily disposing of Jack's conversiocon
claim in toto. Thus, we digscuss only the sufficiency of the

evidence relating to the items Jack allegedly received as

inter vivos gifts from Mrs. McGee.

In that connection, Willis challenges the sufficiency of
Jack's affidavit. According to Willis, Jack's affidavit fails
to show that he had legal title to the allegedly gifted
property that remained in Mrs. McGee's possession atbt Lthe Lime
of her death. This 1sg true, because, he saysgs, the statements

in Jack's affidavit are merely conclusory, that i1s, the

20



1091798; 1100247

affidavit does not contain facts necessary "to establish when
any such gift occurred, the circumstances surrounding any such
gift, nor facts sufficient to establish that delivery had

occurred in order to constitute a wvalid inter viveos gift."”

Willis's principal reply brief, at 47 (citing Dial w. Dial,

603 So. 2d 1020, 1022-23 (Ala. 1992) (delivery is an essential

element of a wvalid inter wviwvos gift, and "the death of the

donor [without a delivery] is an automatic revoeocation™)).
We agree. To be sure, Jack's affidavit states: "I toock

actual possession of all of these items khefore leaving them in

"

mother's house including the things that mother gave me
{(Emphasis added.) However, "when a respcnse to a moticn for
summary  Jjudgment or an accompanying affidavit states
conclusions on ultimate issues without including facts that
tend to prove or disprove the allegations made in the motion
for summary Jjudgment, it 1is insufficient to give rise to

genuine issues of fact." QCOlscon v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.

Co., 174 P.3d 849, 858 (Colo. Ct. App. 2007). See Brown ox

rel. Brown v. St. Vincent's Hosp., 892 So. 2d 227, 238-39

(Ala. 2004).
Thus, where the 1gssue was whether a property owner

"offered substantial evidence that he suffered harm or loss as

21
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a resgult of the construction [kby a munigipality]l] of [a]
pedestrian bridge" across a highway adjacent to his property,
when the evidence offered 1in zresponse Lo Lhe properly
supported summaryv-judgment motion was the owner's statement in
his affidavit that the bridge "interferel[d] with the ingress
[to] and egress [from]"™ his property, this Court held that

such evidence was merely conclusory. Reid v. Jefferson Cnty.,

672 So. 2d 128%, 1286 (Ala. 189%). Alsco, where the issue was
whether a common-law marriage had been established, affiant's
statements referring to the other party as "his wife" were

merely conclusory and did not constitute substantial evidence

of the existence of a marriage. Salter v. State, 971 So. 2d
31, 35 {(Ala. Civ. App. 2007). Here the bare statement -- "I
took actual possession" -- 1s a legal conclusicon as to an

element of a gift, not factual support for the element of
delivery. Consequently, Jack's affidavit does not provide
substantial evidence that he ever acgquired title and a right
to possession of the property allegedly given him by Mrs.
MoGee., The trial court did not err in entering a summary
judgment as to that class of items allegedly converted and,

insofar as the gsummary Judgment did so, 1t 1s affirmed.

272
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Insofar as it entered a summary judgment regarding the cother
two classes of property, that summary judgment is reversed.

III. Discussion —- Case No. 1100247

In Willis's appeal, he contends that tThe trial court
erred in denying his motion for costs and fees, pursuant to §
43-8-196, which provides:

"The costs of any contest under the provisions
of this article must be paid by tLhe party contesting
if he failsg; otherwise, it must be paid by the
plaintiff or out of the estate, or 1in such
proportion by the plaintiff or out of the estate asg
the court may direct; and for the costs directed to
be paid by the plaintiff or defendant, execution may
be issued as in cther cases; and the costs directed
to be paid out of the estate may be collected as
other ¢laims against an estate are collected."

(Emphasis added.)
Although this section speaks specifically of "costs," 1t
authorizes an award of attorney fees as part of the costs in

a will c¢contest. Hart wv. Jackson, 607 So. 2d 1l6l, 164 (Ala.

1982) . The contestant 1s liabkble "if he fails,™ which this

Court has construed to mean that "if there is some credible

evidence offered by the contestant in support c¢f the theory of
the contest, the contestant 1s not Lo be charged with paying

the attornevs' fees of the proponent.” Bleidt v. Kantor, 412

So. 2d 76%, Y71 (Ala. 1982) (emphasis added) (ccocnstruing the
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predecessor statute to & 43-8-196). Bleidt involved a will
contest commenced by Nell Bleidt on the grounds of undue
influence and forgery. 412 So. 2d at 770. The case was Lried

to a dury, which returned a wverdict against Bleidt and in

favor of the proponents of the will. Id. Subsequently, the
trial court awarded the proponents $10,000 in attorney fees,
pursuant to § 43-1-76, which is now § 43-8-19¢, Bleidt's
appeal did not involve a specific challenge to the sufficiency
of the evidence of the grounds for the c¢ontest but did
challenge the propriety of the fee award.

This Court in Bleidt reversed the fee award on the basis

of the litigation represented by Clark v. Clark, 280 Ala. %44,

197 So. 2d 447 (1967} ("Clark I"™) (reversing a Jjudgment
entered on a jury verdict for the contestant and rendering a
Judgment 1In favor of the proponent on the ground that the
evidence was insufficient to support the contest); and Clark
v. Clark, 287 Ala. 42, 247 Sc. 2d 36l (1%71) ("Clark II")
{holding that attorneys who represented the "executor in the
will contest" in Clark T were entitled to a fee to be paid by
the contestant).

Discussing Clark I and Clark II, the Ccurt 1in Bleidt
explained:
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"[Clark 11] involved an allowance of attornevs' fees
under Title &1, § 5%, Alabama Code of 1940, the
predecessor of Code of 1975, & 43-1-76 [now & 43-8-
1967, There this Court was dealing with a prior
will contest which had been successful but which,
upon review, was found to be based upon insufficient
evidence. [Clark I]. 1In [Clark TITI] dealing with the
award cf attorneys' Ifeegs against the contestant as
costs, this Court referred to [Clark I] as
'altogether without merit,’' or frivolous.
Therefore, this Court held the trial court had erred
in decreeing that the executor's attorneys be paid
from the residuary estate 'and in not taxing such
fee against the contestants as costs in the will

contest suit.' [Clark II], supra, 287 Ala. 42, 48,
247 So. 2d 361. In other words, this Court
construed & 59 (now [§ 43-8-196]) as authcorizing
attorneys' fees against the contestant whe fails

only when the contest is without merit. That isg, 1if
there 1s some <credible evidence offered by the
contestant in support of the thecry of the contest,
the contestant is not to be charged with paying the
attorneys' fees c©f the proponent.

"An examination of this record convinces us that
this contest was not 'altogether without merit." To
the contrary, the contestant adduced credible
evidence of undue influence and forgery. The
proponents of the will produced evidence tending to
show an absence of undue influence or forgery. The
trial court properly allowed the Jury to resolve the
conflict created by the evidence of both sides, and
the Jjury found for the proponents. But the mere
fact that the contestant lost could not under § 43-
1-76 [now & 43-8-196] and Clark [II], 287 Ala. 42,
247 So. 2d 36l (1971}, be used to charge the
contestant with the proponents' attornevys' fees as
part c¢f the costs."”

412 So. 2d at 771-72 (emphasis added).
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In this case, we are presented with no c¢redible evidence
in support of any ground upon which Jack challenged Mrs.
McGee's will.” The trial court erred, therefore, in refusing
to award Willis fees and costs.

IV. Conclusion

In summary, the judgment in case no. 1091728 1is reversed
and the case remanded for further proceedings as to the issue
of conversion of the items Jack allegedly received from
sources other than Mrs. McGee. In all other respects, the
judgment in case no. 10917%8 1is affirmed. Cf course, our
disposition of the fraud and undue-influence claims similarly
disposes of any need for a constructive trust. As for case noc.
1100247, however, the judgment 1s reversed and the case 1is
remanded for further proceedings consistent with this cpinion.

1091798 -- AFFIRMED 1IN PART; REVERSED 1IN PART; AND
REMANDED .,

Malone, C.J., and Stuart, Belin, Parker, 3Shaw, Main, and
Wise, JJ., concur.

Murdock, J., concurs 1in the result.

‘Alternatively, Willis asks this Court to overrule Bleidt.
Because of cur resolution of the issue in favor of Willis, we
decline to address that regquest.
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1100247 -- REVERSED AND REMANDED,

Malone, C.J., and Stuart, Parker, Shaw, and Main, JJ.,
concur,

Bolin, Murdock, and Wise, JJ., concur in the result.
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MURDOCK, Justice (concurring in the result).

I concur in the result reached by the main opinion in
both case no. 10981798 and case no. 1100247. I write
separately as to case no. 1081798 to express my congcern
regarding the state of our law with respect to undue influence
and conversion and to note my reason for agreeing with the
result reached by the main opinion as to the fraud <¢laim,

Undue Influence

By 1977, 1f not befcre, our cases had begun Lo speak in
terms of three distinct elements that, if proven, would aid a

will contestant by giving rise to & presumpiticn of undue

influence, thereby shifting the burden of proof Lo the
propconent ¢f the will to establish that the will was the free

act of the testatcr. In Pruitt v. Pruitt, 343 So. 2d 495, 4995

(Ala. 1977), thilis Court stated:

"Cur cases have consistently held that when
undue influence 1s asserted in a will contest, the
contestant has the burden, in order to raise a
presumption of undue influence, to prove a dominant
confidential relationship and undue activity in the
execution of the will by or for a favored

beneficiary. in other words, evidence must
establish: (1) a confidentilial relationship between
a favored beneficiary and testatcr; (2) that the

influence of or for the bheneficiary was dominant and
contrelling in that relaticnship; and (3) undue
activity on the part o¢f the dominant party in
procuring the execution of the will."
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343 So0. 2d at 499 (citaticon and original emphasis omitted and
emphasis added)}.” As 1indicated in cases such as Pruitt,
however, the "elements™ necessary Lo glve rise Lo oa
presumption of undue influence and to shift the bkurden of
proof are one thing; the definition of undue influence 1is
arniother.

Not unexpectedly, as Pruitt explained, if a contestant is
able to prove those elements for purposes of creating that

presumption, he or she will have "golne] far, cf course, 1in

proving the pringipal charge of undue influence.” 3432 So. 2d
at 499. That "principal charge," i.e., the wrongdoing known
as "undue influence,™ was 1tself defined at common law and 1n
our cases as simply this: the assertion of such "'influence

as, 1n some measure, destroys the free agency of the
testator, and prevents the exercise of that discretion which

the law reguires a party should possess as essential to a

‘See alsc Jones v. Brooks, 184 Ala. 115, 120, 63 So. 978,
97S% (1913) ("After the contestant makes cut a case which would
cast the burden upon the beneficiary, the beneficiary may
overturn the presumption by proof of competent, independent
advice and counsel, 'or by any other evidence which satisfies
the judicial conscience that the gift was the voluntary and
well-understood act of the testatrix's mind.' —-- Scarbrough v.
Scarbrough, [18> Ala. 468, 478, 64 So. 105, 109 (1913)]."
{empheasis added)).
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valid testamentary dispcosition of his property.'" Id.

(quoting the well established definition of undue influence

stated over 20 years earlier in Locke v. Sparks, 263 Ala. 137,

140, 81 So. 2d 670, 673 (1955)}. As this Court indicated in

the 1861 case of Hall's Heirs wv. Hall's Executors, 38 Ala.

131, 134 (1861}, what 1is necessary to demonstrate undue
influence 1s simply a showing "that an influence was exerted
upon the mind of the testator, which was eguivalent to moral
coercion, and constrained him to do that which was against his
will, but which, from fear, the desire of peace, or some octher

feeling than affection, he was unable to resist." BRlack's Law

Dictionary 1666 (9th ed. 2008} defines "undue influence”™ 1n

relation to a will as simply "[c¢loercion that destroys a
testator's free will and substitutes another's objectives in

its place"” and then notes that "a presumption of undue

influence™ (emphasis added) may arise "based o©n the
confidential relationship between the influencer and the
person influenced”™ "[w]lhen a beneficiary actively procures the
execution of a will." See also 36 Am. Jur. Proof of Facts 2d

10% Undue Influence in Executicon of Will & 2 (1983} (discussing

the elements of a claim of undue influence); 36 Am. Jur. Proof

of Facts 2d 109 Undue Influence in Fxecution of Will & 7
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{(1283) (discussing the elements for establishing a presumpticn

of undue influence).

The failure of our cases since Pruitt to maintain the
distinction between the elements of undue influence and the
factors giving rise to a presumption of undue influence leads
to confusion, as I believe i1t has 1in the present case, and
could, in a given case, lead to an unjust result. For
example, element {1l) as now articulated reqgquires the
contestant teo establish "'a confidential relationship between

a favored bkeneficiary and the testator.'" Furrow v. Helton,

13 So. 3d 350, 353 (Ala. 2008) (guoting Clifton v. Clifton,

529 So. 2d 980, 9283 (Ala. 1998})). Laving aside the sven more
fundamental issue of why we should require the relationship to
be a "confidential”" one, 1t would seem that what should be
required 1s that there be a confidential relationship between

the party exerting the influence and the testator, and noct

between the "favored beneficiary" and the testator. Indeed,
it appears that more recent cases have confused Lthe factors

that may be shown in order to create a presumption of undue

influence (thereby shifting the burden cof proof) with what it
means simply for a testator toc have been unduly influenced and
that these cases have sub silentic overruled earlier cases
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such as Little v. Sugg, 243 Ala. 196, 212, 8 So. 2d 866, 881

(1%42). In Little, this Court clearly explained: "If a will

is procured by undue influence, 1t is not essential that the

beneficiary participated in thus procuring it. If it is so

procured, the animus testandi [testamentary intention] is

absent, regardless of who may be the gulilty agent.™ In fact,

element (2, as quoted abocve from Pruitt, appesars to
acknowledge this distinction with its reference to "influence
of or for the beneficliary." 343 So. 2d at 48%9. Why would a
will ke any less the result of undue influence (i.e., why
would the testator's testamentary intention be any less unduly
interfered with) simply because a party unduly influenced the
testator to leave property to some person or entity other than
the party exerting the undue influence?

Similarly, as to element (3), I gquestion why we should
impose a strict reguirement of direct involvement 1in the
physical preparation of the will or the lcgistics or mechanics
of 1ts execution. Not unlike a party who obtains favorable
terms in a will by committing fraud on the testator, could not
somecone be guilty of unduly influencing a testator to change

his or her will without being directly involved in the snsuing
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mechanics ¢f hiring a lawyer, obtaining witnesses, etc.? The
main opinicn states:

"Clrcumstances evidencing undue activity in the
procurement or execution of a will are those where
a heneficiary

"'"'was acting in and about the execution
and preparation of said will such as the
initiation of the proceedings for the
prevaration of the will, or participation
in such preparation, employing the
draftsman, selecting the witnesses,
excluding persons form the testatrix at or
about the time of the execution of the
will, concealing the making of the will
after it was made, and the like....™'™™’

"Reed v. Shipp, 293 Ala. 632, 636, 308 So. 2d 705,
708 (1975) (quoting appellants' brief, guoting in
turn Lewis v. Martin, 210 Ala. 401, 413, 98 So. &35,
647 (1922 . There was 1nsufficient relevant
evidence of such activity in this case."”

So. 3d at . Until relatively recently in our history,

the essence of undue influence that would serve to invalidate
a will was, as stated above, the exertion of such influence as
"'destroys the Ifree agency of the testator.'"” Pruitt, 243
So. 2d at 499 (quoting Locke). I am at a loss as to why undue
influence does ncot exist whenever a testator's free will has
in this manner been overccome and, in consequence of that fact,
the testator then handles on his or her own the physical

mechanics associated with preparing and executing the will
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without any further invoclvement by the "influencer." Again,
see Little, supra.

We are not asked in this case, however, Lo revislit the
manner in which our c¢ases articulate the three elements of
undue influence as stated in Furrow. Accordingly, like the
rest ¢of the Court, I review the lgsues presented within the
framework of those elements. In so decing, I concur in the
result reached as to the claim of undue influence in this case
because I do nct see in the record before us "substantial
evidence" to support such a claim.’

The Fraud Claim

'T also have some concern about the statement in the main
opinicon that "[e]lvidence indicating that the testatrix had a
post-execution discussion with a named beneficiary and gave
him the will with instructions to "put it away for
safekeeping' does not constitute evidence of undue activity in
the execution of the will." So. 3d at . Although I

agree that, in the context of the present case, that stated
fact, standing alone, does not constitute meaningful evidence
of undue influence, I would not agree that evidence of such
post-execution involvement with the testator could ncoct, in an
apprcocpriate case (e.g., here there 1is other meaningful
evidence of undue influence), contribute Lo a Jury's ability
to infer from the evidence that such influence had in fact
occurred, Cf. Reed v. Shipp, 293 Ala. 632, 636, 308 50. 2d
705, 708 {(1975) (noting that post-execution activity 1in
"concealing the making of the will after it was made, and the
like," may be evidence of undue influence).
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I concur in the result achieved by the main opinion as to
Jack's fraud claim because I do not find in the record
gubstantial evidence of a missing will.

The Conversion Claim

If the Dead Man's Statute were still "alive" 1in this
State, the issue presented as to the alleged inter vivos glfts
from Mrs. McGee to Jack likely would not bhe before us. See
§ 12-21-163, Ala. Code 1975 (Dead Man's Statute):;® see alsc

Schoenvogel v. Venator Group Retail, Inc., 395 So. 2d 225,

*Section 12-21-163, which was abrogated by this Court's
adoption of Rule 601, Ala. R. Evid., states:

"In civil actionsg and proceedings, there must be
no exclusion ¢f any witness bhecause he is & party or
interested in the issue tried, except that no person
having a pecuniary interest in the result of the
action or proceeding shall ke allowed to ftestify
agalnst the party te whom his interest 1is opposed as

to any transaction with, or statement by, the
deceased person whose estate is dinterested in the
result of the action or proceeding ..., unless

called to testify theretc by the party to whom such
interest 1z opposed or unless the testimony of such
deceased person 1n relation to such transaction or
statement 1s introduced 1in evidence by the party
whose interest is opposed to that of the witness or
has been taken and is on file 1in the case. No
person who 1s an 1incompetent witness under this
section shall make himself competent by transferring
his interest to ancther.”

{(Emphasis added.)
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258 (Ala., 2004}y ("The Alabama Dead Man's Statute, § 12-21-163,
Ala. Code 1975, has been superseded by Rule 601, Ala. R.
Evid."}; Rule 601, Ala. R. Evid. ("Every person 1s compeltent
to be a witness except as otherwise provided 1in these

rules.™}. For example, in Brooks v. Ward, 287 Ala. 6085, 614,

254 So. 24 175, 178-79 (1971}, which involved an attempt after
the death of an alleged donor to prove an inter vivos gift of

property 1in which the estate had an interest, this Court

stated:
"In our consideration of this appeal we have nct
overlooked the possible effect of [the] ... Dead
Man's Statute ... 1in rendering incompetent the

testimony of Loyd and Hazel Ward pertaining to the
statement c¢f Mr. Brooks concerning the gift or the
release of the note.

"The fact that tLhe Wards had a pecuniary
interest in the outcome of the suit, and the further
fact that Mr. Brooks' estate would bhe affected by
the suit, would seem to place the competency of the
Wards as witnesses sguarely within the terms of [the
Dead Man's 3Statute].

"L [NJ]either the Chancellor nor this court
can consider that part of the testimony of Mr. and
Mrs. Ward which 1s within the exclusicnary rule of
[the Dead Man's Statute].”

See, e.g., Livingston v. Powell, 257 Ala. 38, 42, 57 Sc. 2d

521, 523 (19%52). The effective repeal of the Dead Man's

Statute, however, has now made possible the dispute before us
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in that 1t has made possible the use of testimony of the
alleged donee following the death of the alleged donor in
support of a claim of an inter vivog gift of property in which
the deceased donor's estate has an interest.

The elements of a gift are "1) [a]ln intention to give and
surrender title to, and dominlion over, the property;
2) [dlelivery of the property to the doneeg; and

3) [alcceptance by the donee." Dial wv. Dial, 603 Sc. 2d 1020,

1022 (Ala. 1292) (emphasis omitted). Further, proof of a gift
must be accomplished by "clear and convincing evidence." See,

e.g., First Alabama Bank of Montgomery v. Adams, 382 So. 2d

1104, 1111 (Ala. 1980}); DeMouy v. Jepson, 255 Ala. 337, 339,

51 So. 2d 506, 508 (1951). Also, the delivery required for a
gift must by an actual, physical delivery, unless the property

i1s not susceptible of such delivery. See Garrison v. Grayson,

284 Ala. 247, 250, 224 So., 2d 606, 608-09 (19%69).
Nevertheless, this Court has recognized that delivery of
a gift might be shcown even where the donor maintaing or
subsequently regains some physical control over the gifted
property:
"A gift of securities may be sustained where,

after delivery, they are placed in a safe to which
both donor and donee have access, o¢or 1in a safety
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deposgsit kox rented by the donee, and to which the
donor has access by authority of the donee. .
But this only contemplates storage after delivery.
We doubt not however that a delivery may be effected
by the donor placing the securities in such box with
the mutual understanding that thereby their
ownership, custody, <c¢ontreol, management and use
completely pass to the donee, who also accepts them
as his own."

Livingston, 257 Ala. at 43, 57 So. 2d at 524-25 (final

emphasis added}. See glso 38 Am. Jur. 2d Gifts & 27 (2010):
"A donor's retention of actual physical
possession of personal property will not necessarily
negate a finding that the donor has made a gift of
the property. Where gocod reason exists for the
phvsical retention by the donor of the subject
matter of a gift, a good delivery can ke shown by
other circumstances. Moreover, if a gift has been
fully executed, the return of the property by the
donee to the donor for a purpose not inconsistent
with the gift will not render the gift invalid."

(Footnotes omitted and emphasis added.)

As to the i1ssue of property 1in the possession of a
decedent at the time of his or her death, Willis asserted in
his summary-judgment motion that allegedly gifted property
that is in the possession of a decedent is "regarded as part
of the decedent's estate as a matter ¢of law." Standing alone,
this assertion is not a correct statement cof law. Only a

rebuttakle presumption is established by the fact of

possession by the decedent at the time of death:
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"Personal property found in one's vpossession or
under his dominicn and control at the time of his
death is presumed to belong to him and to constitute
assets of his estate; bhut this presumption is of
course rebuttable by evidence appropriate and
competent to show that such property did not belong
to the decedent and was not an asset of his estate.”

Sewell v. Sewell, 199 Ala. 242, 243-44, 17 So. 2d 343, 3244

{1217) (emphasis added).

Further, I would note that whether Jack ever took
physical delivery of the items in gquestion from Mrs. McGee
before she died is a factual issue. Delivery 1s one oI the

factual elements of a gift. Thus, in addressing this issue,

Jack's affidavit deces address a factual issue, and not a
question of law or an "ultimate conclusion”™ as the main
opinion suggests.”® Further, Jack's affidavit is more than
conclusory to the extent that it does list three particular
items of which, according to the affidavit, Jack physically
took possession before his mother died and then explaing that
he had returned these items to her for safekeeping and the

reason he had dcocne sc, 1.e., that his own house was being

‘It appears to me that if Jack's affidavit had simply
stated that he "had received a gift" of the items in gquestion,
this would have been testimony as to the "ultimate
conclusion.”
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remodeled. In short, I cannot agree tTc¢ characterize Jack's
affidavit as merely "conclusory statements ... 'not supported
by any factual assertions'" as urged by Willis (citing Dudley

v. Bass Anglers Sportsman Society, 777 So. 2d 135, 140 (Ala.

2000)Y), given the fact that the statements regarding this
matter found in Jack's affidavit are, themselves, "factual

assertions."’ Any lack of additional details in testimony of

‘Compare Restatement {Second) of Property: Donative
Transfers § 31.1 (1992):

"d, Manifested intention of dconor tc make gift
of entire 1nterest 1n personal property to single
donee. The proof that the personal property
delivered by the donor is to an intended donee, or
to a third person for an intended donee, must be
found in legally admissible evidence. TFor example,
the so-called dead man's statute may prevent the use
of oral statements made by the donor to the intended
donee if the donor is dead at the time procof of what
the donor intended is introduced (see Tllustrations

3 and 5). The proof that 1s admissible, however,
may relate to an intention the donor had before, at
the time of, or after the delivery. The

relationship of the partlies involved may i1ndicate
that a gift from one to the other weould be a normal
expectation, and, if S0, this circumstance
contributes to the finding of an intent to make a
gift. If the delivery is made to one on his or her
birthday, this fact may Justify a finding that a
gift 1s 1ntended. Any other circumstance 1n
connection with the delivery that suggests the
reason for the delivery is relevant in determining
the intention of the donor to make or not to make a
gift.
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this nature normally would go to the ¢redibility and weight
determinations to be made by the fact-finder at trial rather

than Lo the compesetence of the evidence.

"[Illustration] 12. 0O has a diamond
ring on her finger, and she takes it off
and hands it to her daughter D, savying: 'I
give this ring to vou.' The ring is too

small for D, but it 1s recognized that the
ring could be enlarged to fit D's finger.

¢ then savs: 'Let me take it and wear it
for a while longer, but it is your ring and
you can have i1t whenever vyou want it.' O

dies and D demands the ring from O's
executor. If D's testimony that © made the
quoted statement is admissible and is
believed, the conclusion is justified that
the gift of the ring to D was completed
when O handed D the ring. The return of
the ring by D to O to allow O to wear it
until D should reguest 1t did not terminate
D's acguired ownership. 0O's executcr is
required to deliver the ring to D."

(Emphasis added.) See also, e.g., Friend wv. Morrow, 558
S.W.2d 780, 783-84 (Mo. Ct. App. 1977) {(involving inter vivos
gift and deceased donor and stating: "The return of the

subject matter of a completely executed gift by the donee to
the donor for a purpose not inconsistent with the gift, such

as safekeeping, will not render the gift invalid."}); Rogers v.
Rogers, 271 Md. 03, 608, 315 A.2d 119, 122 (1%74) (invelving
inter wvivos gift and deceased donor and stating: "wWhere an

actual delivery to a donee occurs, a delivery back to the
donor, where the doncr is acting as the donee's agent for a
limited purpose, does not impeair the validity of the gift.").
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Nonetheless, the standard of proof in circumstances

as this is demanding. In Thomas v. Tilley, 147 Ala. 189,

41

"Realizing how easy it 1s, after the death of
the supposed donor, to gather up detached
expressions, varticularly in the presence of
interested witnesses, we recognize the wisdom of the
rule that strict proof should be made of all the
ingredients of a perfected gift kbefore the zame can
be established.”

(Emphasis added.) Further, in Davis v. Wachter, 224 Ala.

309,

140 So. 3261, 363 (1932}, this Court stated:

"With respect to the bkurden of proof, we are
primarily concerned with the rule that one claiming
as donee must carry tThat burden by c¢lear and
convincing proof, and when the gift is inter vivos,

and the donee makes no assertion of ownership until

after the death of the donor, the same measure and

character of proof is required as when it is causa

mortis.

ni

"'A gift causa mortis 1s a gift of
personal property made in the 1immediate
apprehensicn of death, subject to the
conditions, expressed or implied, that 1f
the donor should not die, as expected, cr
if the donee should die first, or 1if the
donor should revoke the glift before death,
the gift should be woid' (14 Am. & Eng.
Ency. Law [2d Ed.] 1052); or a gift made
'in expectation of death, then imminent,
and upon the essential condition that the
property shall belong fully to the donee,
in case the dconor dies, as anticipated,
leaving the donee surviving him, and the
gift i1 noct in the meantime revoked, but

47

such

185,

So. 854, 855 (1906}, we find this expression of the rule:

306,
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{(Emphasis added.)

Unfortunately for present purposes, and no doubt owing to
the salutary effect of Alabama's Dead Man's Statute until the
adoption of Rule 601 effective January 1, 1996, there is
little Alabama caselaw explaining what "measure and character”
of testimony from a donee 1g sufficient to satisfy the "strict
proof" "clear and convinging" evidentiary standard in regard
to physical delivery and cther elements of an inter vivos gift
first claimed by the donee after the death of the doncr.

That said, and without attempting to articulate a more
precise rule for general application at this Jjuncture, I am
comfortable with & conclusion today that the "measure and
character" of the reguired proof must be greater than that
presented in the case before us. If the law found sufficient

evidence no more compelling than that presented here, 1t would

not otherwise.' 20 Cyc. 1228.

"It is essential to the validity of a
gift causa mortis that the property be
deliveraed to the donee, either actually or
constructively."

Barnes wv. Barnes, 174 Ala. 16&, 168-6%, 056 3Sc. 958, 859
(1911) .
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risk the injection of much uncertainty and confusion in regard
to testamentary dispositions, an area where the common law and
our legislature have attempted Lo impose requirements intended

to produce certainty and order. See Benson v, Jefferson

Mortg. Co., 276  Ala. 72, 75, 159 So. 2d 191, 193

{(1263) ("'""Gifts causa mortis ought not to be encouraged.
It 1is far better that occasionally a gift of this kind should
fail than that the rules of law be so relaxed as to encourage

fraud and perjury."'" (gquoting Smith v. Eghelman, 22325 Ala.

588, 592, 180 S5o0. 312, 317 (19328) (Gardner, J., dissenting)):

Reedy v. Kelley, 200 Ala. 132, 133, 89 So. 275, 277 (1%21)

{"'"Toc much care cannot be taken, in insisting on the most
convinging evidence in cases of this kind [invelving gifts
causa mortis]; for these donations do in effect amount to a
revocation pro tanto, of written wills; and, not being subject
to the forms prescribed for nuncupative wills, they are

certainly of a dangerous nature.'" (guoting Wells v. Tucker,

3 Binn (Pa.} 366, 370 (1811)}); 38 Am Jur. 2d Gifts & 79 (2010)

{"The reguirement of c¢lear and convincing proof of a gift

pertains with even greater force where the gift, whether inter

vivos or causa mortis, 1s not asserted until after the death

of the alleged donor, in view of the possibkbility of fraud or
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pretension in such a case." (footnotes omitted and emphasis

added)}; 28 Am Jur. 2d Gifts & 84 (2010) ("[E]vidence adduced
to establish title to property through an inter vives gift, as
againsgt the estate of a decedent, must be of great probative
force. Furthermore, the evidence reguired to establish a gift
causa mortis may be greater than that needed to prove an inter
vivos gift." (footnotes omitted)).’

Finally, I have an additional measure of reluctance to
reverse the judgment of the trial court on this conversicn
c¢laim stemming from the fact that to do so would indicate that
an affidavit of the nature here would be a sufficient basis
from upon which a Jury could conclude that a will contestant
has "clearly and convincingly" proved a claim of conversion

against an executor shouldered by law with the obligation to

‘Compare Thomas v. Tilley, 147 Ala. at 185, 41 So. at 855:

"While in this case tLhe proposed donee had
possession of the paper, yet it is proved at the
same time that he had all the other papers of the
decedent 1n the same trunk, merely for safe-keeping,
and, while it is not, in every sense, absoclutely
necessary that a note sheould be indorsed (fo pass
from one to another}, yet it is significant in this

case as a clrcumstance. In addition, 1t may be
noted that even the declarations, such as they are,
were contradictory. We hold that the evidence in

this case was not sufficient to establish the gift,
and the decree of the court is affirmed."”
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marshal and to secure the physical assets of the decedent

pending Jjudicial or other disposition of those assets.
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